AP-1 TARGETS IN THE BRAIN

Marcin Rylski 1,2 and Leszek Kaczmarek 1

¹ Laboratory of Molecular Neurobiology, The Nencki Institute, 02-093 Warsaw, Pasteura 3, Poland, ² Department of Genetics, Faculty of Biology, University of Warmia and Mazury, Olsztyn 10-719, ul. Plac Lodzki 3, Poland

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1. Abstract
- 2. Introduction
- 3. AP-1 as a transcription factor
- 4. Defining AP-1-driven gene expression in the brain: technical considerations
- 5. Putative AP-1 target genes
 - 5.1. Genes encoding the transmembrane and extracellular proteins
 - 5.1.1. Tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases-1 (timp-1)
 - 5.1.2. Growth-associated protein 43 (GAP-43, B50, neuromodulin, F1, PP46)
 - 5.1.3. Angiotensin II type 1 receptor (AT1R, AGTR1, AT1)
 - 5.1.4. Glutamate receptor 2 (GRIA2, GluR2, GluRB)
 - 5.1.5. Gonadotropin-releasing hormone receptor (GnRHR)
 - 5..2 Genes encoding the neuropeptides and neurotrasmitters
 - 5.2.1. Follicle-stimulating hormone-beta (FSHbeta)
 - 5.2.2. Corticotrophin-releasing hormone (CRH, CRF)
 - 5.2.3. Arginine vasopressin (AVP, ADH)
 - 5.2.4. Preproenkephalin (PENK)
 - 5.2.5. Preprodynorphin (PDYN)
 - 5.2.6. Tyrosine hydroxylase (TH, TYH)
 - 5. 3. Genes encoding the neurotrophins, and cytokines
 - 5.3.1. Fas ligand
 - 5.3.2. Nerve growth factor (NGF)
 - 5.3.3. Tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF-alpha)
 - 5.3.4. Monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1)
 - 5.4. Other genes
- 6. Perspective
- 7. Acknowledgement
- 8. References

1. ABSTRACT

Activator protein-1 (AP-1) is a transcription factor involved in many aspects of the brain physiology and pathophysiology. In spite of strong engagement in a transcriptional regulation of the brain gene expression, only a few, if any, downstream AP-1 targets have unequivocally been identified so far. In the review we discuss only the best characterized AP-1 target genes in the brain, and we highlight the shortages of our understanding of AP-1 action in the central nervous system as well as indicate what could be done to ameliorate the situation.

2. INTRODUCTION

Understanding of neuronal and glial gene expression is of utmost importance to approach brain physiology and pathology. During the recent years one may witness an eruption of studies on gene expression patterns in the brain. Especially abundant are data on transcription factors encoded by the immediate early genes. However, despite the fact that these results are very important in suggesting possible processes which are controlled by the transcription factors, the thorough understanding of their role in brain functions and dysfunction requires application

of other experimental approaches, such as intervening ones allowing to modify the levels and/or protein function. Unfortunately, direct means to affect genes in the brain *in vivo*, such as homologous recombination, application of antisense oligos, etc., all are flawed with numerous technical difficulties (see 1, 2). On the other hand, it is fortunate that in the case of transcription factors we may follow their well defined biological functions, and thus to identify their target genes, what in turn should help to elucidate the biological roles of transcription factors themselves. In this review we are focusing on activator protein-1 (AP-1), one of the most often studied transcription factors in the central nervous system.

3. AP-1 AS A TRANSCRIPTION FACTOR

AP-1 is a dimeric transcription factor (TF) composed of c-Jun and its homologs JunB, and JunD complexed to c-Fos or its related proteins FosB, DeltaFosB, Fra-1, and Fra-2. All of them are encoded by immediate early genes belonging to the bZIP superfamily, what means that they dimerize via their leucine zipper domains and bind DNA by N-terminally located basic region. Jun

proteins can form stable homodimers, but Fos family members apparently cannot (3). c-Jun was a first oncogenic product for which transcription factor activity was defined (4). *c-fos* is an immediate early gene, coding for proto-oncogenic transcription factor protein c-Fos heterodimerizing with Jun to form AP-1. The other members of Jun and Fos families that have been discovered later were named because of their homologies to the originally discovered prototypes.

Various AP-1 components show non-uniform stimulus responses and the dimers formed display a diverse stability, DNA binding specificity and affinity (5, 6, 7, 8). Moreover, transcriptional activity of AP-1 can be affected by different transcriptional coactivators such as cAMP response element binding protein (CREB)-binding protein (CBP) and Jun activation domain binding protein 1 (JAB 1) (9, 10). The AP-1 can either induce or inhibit the expression of a given gene (11, 12, 13, 14). JunD/c-Fos and JunD/FosB have the highest transactivational and DNA binding activity in vitro of all complexes (15), whereas JunD/ATF-2 have apparently a repressive action (16). Probably for technical reasons, the evidence for AP-1 dependent increases in gene expression is much more abundant. Interestingly, however, in the brain, the major inducible AP-1 components are c-Fos and JunB (see, e.g. 17, 18, 19, 20) and it has been elegantly shown that JunB appears to display a gene silencing, rather than gene activating properties (21). On the other hand, phosphorylated c-Jun seems to act as a transcriptional activator. In adult brain an upregulation of AP-1 components occurs in response to seizures, lesions, sensory stimulations and behavioral trainings of various kinds, etc. (17, 20, 22, 23, 24, 25, 26, 27). In this context, it might be worth mentioning e.g. that in the rat visual cortex, under basal conditions FosB and JunD comprise the AP-1 components (17). Sensory stimulation of the visual cortex results in an AP-1 activation with a dynamically changing composition, containing P-c-Jun as well as c-Fos, and JunB, detectable only at two hours after the stimulation, whereas JunB persists at least up to 6 hrs (17, 22).

Jun/Fos type AP-1 complexes predominantly to its cognate sequence TGA(C/G)TCA, named either AP-1 binding site or TRE (12-Otetradecanoyl phorbol 13-acetate [TPA] response element), in many gene promoters and enhancers to regulate the gene transcription. The binding is markedly influenced by the TRE flanking sequences (5, 13) and can be regulated by tissue-specific repressive elements as evidenced by neuromodulin transcriptional regulation (28). Notably, it appears that there is a crosstalk in the regulation of the promoter activity between TRE and cAMP-responsive element (CRE) (15, 29). Furthermore, Jun and Fos proteins can form heterodimers with some members of activating transcription factor (ATF) family, and e.g., c-Jun/ATF2 dimers preferentially bind CRE (TGACGTCA) in gene promoters and show low binding activity to TRE (30), whereas CREB can be a component of TRE binding complexes (31). Unfortunately, these data have been collected in the in

vitro experiments often relying on recombinant proteins. Hence, their biological significance remains largely unknown.

4. TECHNICAL CONSIDERATIONS CRITICAL FOR DEFINING AP-1-DRIVEN GENE EXPRESSION IN THE BRAIN

There is a number of methods that have been applied to suggest that a specific gene is possibly AP-1 dependent in the brain. The most popular is to show a presence of TRE/AP-1 sequence in the vicinity of the coding region of the gene under study. Unfortunately, this is not a very revealing information as AP-1/TRElike sequences are quite abundant in the genome. Thus it appears to be of a critical importance to show that under the experimental conditions analyzed, the gene under study contains the apparent regulatory sequence(s) capable of binding the appropriate proteins in the electrophoretic mobility shift assay (EMSA) aided by a supershift approach with specific antibodies directed against defined AP-1 proteins. It would be especially useful to show that the apparent AP-1 binding site is occupied indeed by Fos and/or Jun proteins in the brain. Such an analysis could involve DNA footprinting approach as well as application of DNA-protein crosslinking methods.

Another, repeatedly raised argument relies on spatial and temporal coincidence of the expression of AP-1 proteins and the mRNA under question in response to specific stimulation. This is, however, a very indirect, although pivotal, support for the notion under the investigation. Such colocalization studies can be misleading. Especially so, if one uses methods that do not allow to investigate both the mRNA and protein at a single cell resolution.

As it has been mentioned above, lack of appropriate technologies, allowing to affect the gene expression in the brain prevents from providing a definitive evidence in this regard. However, neuronal tissue cultures can be useful in this context providing at least circumstantial functional evidence. Especially, useful are the studies involving primary neuronal or glia cultures transfected with gene constructs containing mutated gene promoters controlling expression of the reporters, such as luciferase, chloramphenicol acetyltransfrease (CAT), and LacZ, coding for beta-galactosidase. However, it is important to recall results of the seminal in vivo study employing transgenic mice with various variants of *c-fos* promoter which only partially confirmed the in vitro data showing specific response of defined regulatory elements to various treatments (32). Hence, the use of transgenic animals carrying the reporter gene under control of various promoter variants of the investigated gene, as well as the implementation of the studies on down-regulation of AP-1 function in vivo by means of dominant negative mutants should always be considered. In addition, the consequences of AP-1 overexpression in transgenic animal could also be important to investigate.

5. PUTATIVE AP-1 TARGET GENES

5.1. Genes encoding the transmembrane and extracellular proteins

5.1.1. Tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases-1 (*timp-1*)

An extensive evidence for AP-1-driven gene in the brain is provided for *timp-1* (33). TIMP-1 is an essential component of the extracellular matrix remodeling system, counter-balancing activity of matrix metalloproteinases. Components of the system in the brain participate in the regulation of neuronal plasticity and cell death, and when deregulated, in pathophysiology of Alzheimer disease, stroke, ischemia and epilepsy (34, 35). Nedivi et al. (36) and Rivera et al. (37) reported that timp-1 expression raises in response to neuronal excitation after peripheral treatment with kainic acid (KA). Various studies implicated the AP-1 in control of timp-1 expression in non-neuronal cells (38, 39). Following that Jaworski et al. (33) analyzed timp-1 expression in rodent hippocampus in response to neuronal excitation produced by either kainate (KA) or pentylenetetrazole (PTZ)-evoked seizures. Using Northern blot the authors detected marked increases in the levels of timp-1 mRNA following the seizures. Furthermore, these changes were dependent on de novo protein synthesis and were following increases in c-fos mRNA. In situ hybridization showed that a pattern of timp-1 mRNA expression in the brains of KA or PTZ treated rats overlapped spatially with c-Fos protein expression detected by immunocytochemistry. In EMSA experiments using nuclear extracts from hippocampi of either KA- or PTZtreated rats there was a dramatic increase of timp-1-TRE DNA-binding activity that contained various AP-1 proteins. timp-1 promoter was also activated in vivo by KA- or PTZinduced excitatory activation in hippocampi of timp-LacZ transgenic mice. Finally, in primary rat dentate gyrus granule cell cultures, the wild type timp-1 promoter responded to L-glutamate stimulation, whereas AP-1 site mutated timp-1 promoter had attenuated responsiveness (33).

To further support the hypothesis that AP-1 indeed regulates *timp-1* expression in the brain, it would be useful to show that AP-1 components occupy the putative DNA binding site within the proximal gene promoter as well as to show functional evidence *in vivo*, such as use of transgenic animals with the transgene containing reporter gene under control of various promoter variants, as well as to employ studies on up-, and down-regulation of AP-1 function *in vivo* and its effect on endogenous *timp-1* expression.

5.1.2. Growth-associated protein 43 (GAP-43, B50, neuromodulin, F1, PP46)

GAP-43 encodes for a membrane, axonal growth cone protein, also known either as neuromodulin or F1 or B50. The GAP-43 expression is mainly limited to the nervous system. It is widely expressed in developing neurons during axonogenesis and in glial cells under some conditions. In neurons, after establishment of synaptic contacts, GAP-43 expression is downregulated and can be restored by axonal injury. GAP-43 induction after axotomy correlates with c-Jun activation (44). In regenerating

neurons which are prevented from reinnervating their target tissue, c-Jun and GAP-43 expression can be elevated even for months (45). GAP-43 contains AP-1 motif in the promoter (46), which appears to contribute to the basal GAP-43 promoter activity in primary cultures of rat cerebral cortex neurons from 18 day old embryos, and in neuronal cell line - CAD (17). In reporter assay in neurons, mutation of TRE diminished GAP-43 promoter activity to ca. 40% (17). Interestingly, the GAP-43 AP-1 site drives also GAP-43 promoter activity in a wide range of nonneuronal cells that express no endogenous GAP-43, but this happens only in the absence of a tissue-specific GAP-43 repressive element (TSGRE) located between TATA box and TRE element (17). TSGRE ensures neuron-specific GAP-43 activation by AP-1. Data from reporter assays show that TSGRE mutations cannot influence AP-1-driven GAP-43 promoter activity in neuronal cells (17). In primary cultures of embryonic rat cerebral cortex neurons the GAP-43 promoter activity and specificity of expression is controlled by regulatory elements known as Cx1 and Cx2 (17). In reporter assay in neurons the mutations of Cx1 and Cx2 sites diminished *GAP-43* promoter activity to ca. 45%. and additional mutation of TRE element lowers the value to ca. 20% (17). Thus, in the case of GAP-43 the evidence for AP-1 role in its regulation is suggestive, however still rather limited.

5.1.3. Angiotensin II type 1 receptor (ATIR, AGTRI, ATI)

Activation of the arterial baroreceptors is transferred by glutamatergic neurotransmission into the principal recipient of primary baroreceptor afferent fibers in the brainstem - the nucleus tractus solitarii (NTS), where it stimulates c-Fos expression (40). Basal and induced c-Fos protein expression in NTS is an early step in the cascade of intracellular events that lead to long-term inhibitory modulation of the baroreceptor reflex response. In NTS there are expressed genes for AT1R and angiotensin II type 2 receptor (AT2R). Both of them have in their promoters TRE motifs (41, 42), but only ATIR seems to be the AP-1 target gene (43). There is a positive temporal correlation between the induction of *c-fos* mRNA (60 min) and AT1R re-expression (90 min) after sustained hypertension. c-Fos seems to co-localize with AT1R, but not AT2R. Furthermore, AT1R re-expression and restoration of pressor response to angiotensin II (ANG II) at 90 min after baroreceptor activation is significantly attenuated by pretreating Sprague-Dawley rats with the antisense c-fos oligonucleotides (43). In aggregate, the data supporting the direct role of AP-1 in regulation of the *AT1R* expression are very limited, and either circumstantial, or involving unreliable antisense approach (see 2).

5.1.4. Glutamate receptor 2 (*GRIA2*, *GluR2*, *GluRB*)

GluR2 is a a subunit of the α -amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazole (AMPA) glutamate receptor, which is a ligand-activated cation channel. Genes encoding for the specific glutamate receptor subunits, including *GluR2*, contain AP-1 sites in their promoters (47). Using transgenic mice inducibly overexpressing DeltaFosB throughout the striatum (including nucleus accumbens, NA), it has been shown that *GluR2* appears to be regulated by DeltaFosB in

NA (48). In the transgenic mice, DeltaFosB upregulation leads to induction of active AP-1 (confirmed by EMSA) and 50% increase of GluR2 protein in NA. EMSA with anti-DeltaFosB antibody has revealed that *GluR2* promoter is bound by DeltaFosB. Despite lack of other evidence, AP-1 role in control of *GluR2* expression seems to be rather persuasive.

5.1.5. Gonadotropin-releasing hormone receptor (GnRHR)

GnRHR is G protein-coupled, heptahelical receptor on the surface of pituitary gonadotropes. Amplitude and frequency of pulsatile GnRH release from the hypothalamus regulates GnRHR expression and therefore GnRHR concentration on the cell surface. A response of the pituitary gonadotropes to GnRH correlates directly with the concentration of GnRHR. GnRHR activation increases synthesis and release of the pituitary gonadotropins - luteinizing hormone and folliclestimulating hormone as well as transcription of its own gene. Transgenic mice carrying 1.9 kb 5'-flanking region of the GnRHR linked to luciferase gene had undisturbed tissue-specificity and GnRH responsiveness of the promoter (49). Similar mice carrying mutated canonical AP-1 motif at a position -336/-330 of the GnRHR promoter lost GnRH-dependent GnRHR responsiveness, but had intact tissue expression pattern (50). Using EMSA with supershifts it has been shown that GnRH enhances AP-1 (JunD, FosB and c-Fos) binding to the -336/-330 bp AP-1 site in murine gonadotrope-derived alphaT3-1 cell line (50). In alphaT3-1 cells, *c-fos* is transcriptionally activated, whereas JunD and FosB are stimulated posttranslationally (50). GnRHR expression in mouse pituitary gonadotropes is upregulated synergistically by GnRH and activin. For this effect, region -387/-308 of GnRHR promoter is required. This promoter segment in alphaT3-1 cell line is composed of two overlapping cisregulatory elements: GnRHR activating sequence (GRAS) at position -329/-318 and a SMAD-binding element (SBE) at -331/-324. Competition EMSA experiments using -335/-312 probe and alphaT3-1 cell nuclear extract together with SMAD, Jun and Fos, FosB, Fra-1, Fra-2 antibodies demonstrated direct binding of AP-1 (c-Fos/c-Jun and c-Jun/c-Jun) protein complexes to non-consensus AP-1 binding site at position -327/-322 (AGTCAC) and SMAD proteins (SMAD3 and SMAD4 but not SMAD2) to -329/-328 sequence. Interestingly, the interaction between AP-1 and SMAD has also been described in the c-jun promoter (51). SMAD proteins exert their effects only after binding to at least one transcriptional partner to form a multifactorial complex known as activin-responsive factor (ARF) that includes the GnRHR promoter AP-1 complexes. Mutations of either AP-1 or SMAD binding sequences abrogated GnRH- and activin-responsiveness of GhRHR promoter and reduced its basal activity (52). Additionally, GnRH-responsiveness of mouse GnRHR is mediated by protein kinase C and has been localized to an enhancer element known as the sequence underlying responsiveness to GnRH-1 (SURG-1) at position -292/-285 and the -276/-269 sequence underlying responsiveness to GnRH-2 (SURG-2), containing AP-1 binding site at -274/-268 (53, 54). EMSA using alphaT3-1 nuclear extracts

confirmed that AP-1 protein is rapidly bound to SURG-2 after GnRH stimulation. In reporter assay it has been shown that mutation of SURG-2 abolished *GnRHR* promoter activity completely, whereas mutated SURG-1 lowered the activity ca. 7-fold. This indicates that SURG-2 is a critical element for the activity of *GnRHR* promoter, nevertheless SURG-1 is also very important (53). There is also the – 1000/–994bp located, inhibitory, atypical AP-1 binding site in the *GnRHR* promoter which is activated by PKC pathway induced by GnRH agonists (55). The AP-1-related functionality of this site was confirmed by competitive EMSA with supershifts and site-directed mutagenesis combined with a reporter assay in alphaT3-1 cells.

5.2. Genes encoding the neurotrasmitters and and neuropeptides

5.2.1. Follicle-stimulating hormone-beta (*FSHbeta*)

FSHbeta has two putative AP-1 sites at -120 bp and -83 bp in the proximal promoter. Both sites have been demonstrated to be important for transcriptional stimulation of FSHbeta in HeLa cells (56). In HeLa cells cotransfected with GnRH receptors and FSHbeta promoter linked to reporter gene, it was found that GnRH upregulates FSHbeta expression via the two AP-1 motifs (57). FSHbeta regulation was studied in transgenic mice containing either wild type or mutated at both AP-1 sites -4741/+759bp FSHbeta promoter (58). Using pituitary cell culture from the mice an importance of the two AP-1 motifs for GnRH-mediated FSHbeta induction in gonadotropes has been further supported (58). Cells with mutated transgene did not respond with luciferase activation for GnRH and combined GnRH/activin treatment, whereas in wild type transgene caring cells luciferase was activated by the GnRH/activin stimulation. However, in vivo GnRH-mediated FSHbeta induction has been shown to be AP-1-independent during estrous cycle, what was also observed in other model systems as gonadectomy, chronic GnRH treatment with Lupron (a long-acting GnRH agonist), injection of GnRH antiserum (58). In the absence of the two AP-1 sites, basal expression levels of the transgene were comparable to those observed with wild type ones, suggesting that these motifs may not be important for FSHbeta expression in the pituitary. In vivo studies with the transgenic mice revealed that activin, a potent FSHbeta?activator, regulates FSHbeta transcription by AP-1 independent mechanism (58). Thus, the role of AP-1 in control of *FSHbeta* transcription in the brain still remains poorly defined.

5.2.2. Corticotrophin-releasing hormone (*CRH*, *CRF*)

CRH is a component of hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis synthesized mainly in the hypothalamus. It acts on the pituitary to stimulate the adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH) release, which is turn induces secretion of the glucocorticoids (GC) from the adrenal cortex. Alterations in CRH synthesis can result in depression, abnormal stress response, behavioral changes, and immunotoxicity. *CRH* transcription in the hypothalamus correlates with increases in AP-1 in response to emotional stress. This apparent link is aided by data obtained with JNK1 (c-Jun N-terminal kinase) knockout mouse study which showed severely reduced stress-related

CRH induction in the hypothalamus leading to attenuated GC release (59). The other example of stress stimulus inducing HPA axis is a bacterial infection. Released during the infection, blood-brain barrier penetrating, proinflammatory cytokines such as IL-1, activate JNK in the hypothalamus and periphery leading to appearance of AP-1-driven gene transcription. CRF has inhibitory glucocorticoid response-binding element (nGRE) at position –278/–249 in its promoter (60, 61). nGRE contains two AP-1 binding sites. Proximal AP-1 site seems to confer positive CRH promoter responsiveness to cAMP and AP-1 proteins, as well as negative response to GC. Interestingly, also human CRF-binding protein gene has putative TRE in its promoter (62). nGRE functions probably as a composite regulatory element. Mutations in GR and AP-1 motives of nGRE abolished GC-dependent CRH repression in mouse corticotroph AtT-20 cells (61). Thus, AP-1 proteins appear to cooperate with GR to downregulate CRH expression. This effect is tissue-specific and limited to hypothalamus. Brain expression of CRH outside of this structure is unaffected by GC (63), and in the human placental trophoblast GC even upregulate CRH (64). Using hypothalamus samples dissected from the rat brains and incubated in vitro with acephate, methamidophos and IL-1 Singh (65) showed that these factors upregulated CRF mRNA expression and increased c-Fos binding to nGRE of CRF promoter. Unfortunately, most of the aforementioned studies only indirectly have approached the link between AP-1 and *CRH* expression in the brain.

5.2.3. Arginine vasopressin (AVP, ADH)

AVP has a single AP-1 element which binds to the AP-1 complex containing c-Fos or FRAs in HeLa cells (66). After ANG II administration into the rat lateral brain ventricle, EMSA using protein extracts from hypothalamic paraventricular nucleus (PVN) and supraoptic nucleus (SON) showed that CRE-like binding site for Fos/Jun dimers from AVP promoter bound more proteins as compared to the samples from control rats (67). The specificity of the binding was confirmed by EMSA competition assay. The same lysates showed enhanced c-Jun and c-Fos expression in PVN and SON after ANG II administration. Thus, AVP seems to be the AP-1 target gene in PVN and SON. Using adrenalectomized rats replaced with different levels of substitutive corticosterone it has been noticed that in the parvocellular division of the PVN during the stress, glucocorticoid negative feedback was exerted on AVP, but not CRF, expression through mechanism that probably involved GR interactions with AP-1 proteins (68). Stress accelerated induction of Fos, and increased binding of proteins from thalamus extracts of adrenalectomized rats to AP-1 site. Taking into account limited approach just described, additional studies on this subject are very desirable to test a role of AP-1 in AVP expression.

5.2.4. Preproenkephalin (PENK)

PENK was the first reported AP-1 target in the brain (69). Unfortunately, our understanding of the PENK transcriptional regulation is still rather superficial, and only partially supportive for the suggested essential role of AP-1. PENK is expressed in neurons as well as in the glial

cells. AP-1 regulates PENK transcription after binding to ENKCRE-2 domain in the promoter (69, 70, 71), which has atypical consensus for AP-1 (TGCGTCA). Arachidonic acid (AA) stimulates AP-1-driven PENK expression in primary rat astrocyte-enriched cultures (72). It has been described that after AA administration c-Fos, c-Jun, Fra-1, Fra-2, JunB and JunD proteins were induced and ENKCRE-2 as well as AP-1 DNA-binding activities were elevated. Cycloheximide treatment inhibited AA effects on ENKCRE-2 and AP-1 DNA-binding activities, suggesting that newly synthesized proteins are responsible for increased DNA binding. Tax1, transcription regulatory protein of human T-cell lymphotropic virus type I is *PENK* transactivator in glial cells (73). Using EMSA with supershifts, increased c-Fos/c-Jun DNA binding activity has been shown in stable glial cell lines expressing Tax1. AP-1 transcription factors are not the only ones essential for *PENK* expression. Prostaglandin E2 upregulates PENK in primary astrocyte-enriched cultures (74). Nevertheless, this effect is probably dependent on phosphorylation of CREB rather than on AP-1 activation. AP-1 is probably also not essential for cholera-toxin induced and cycloheximide-dependent pertussis toxin stimulation of PENK transcription in primary astrocyteenriched cultures (75).

Single injection of KA induces PENK expression after 6 hr, then after 3 weeks there is a second increase in the steady-state levels of PENK expression in the rat hippocampus which lasts for at least one year (76). Originally, spatio-temporal evidence suggested that for both waves of PENK expression after KA administration AP-1 was responsible, with c-Fos, Fra-1, Fra-2, c-Jun and JunB for first peak, and JunD and 35-kDa FRA for the second (76, 77). After that it has been shown by EMSA with supershifts that AP-1 is responsible for short-term PENK activation after KA (77), and Sp-1 transcription factor for the long-lasting PENK expression (78). Using EMSA Won et al. (79) showed that melatonin inhibited KA-induced PENK and PDYN expression in rat hippocampi by blocking AP-1 or ENKCRE-2 DNA binding activity. ENKCRE-2 is found both in PENK promoter and in PDYN promoter. Interestingly, in the granular cells of the rat hippocampal dentate gyrus KA treatment upregulated *PENK* and *PDYN* transcription, whereas pentylenetetrazole injection increased PENK mRNA, but slightly decreased PDYN message, despite of increased AP-1 DNA binding activity which has been shown by EMSA (80).

Pituitary adenyl cyclase-activating peptides (PACAP) 27 and 38 stimulate *PENK* transcription in PC12 cells due to cooperative effects of AP-1 and CREB on the promoter (81). AP-1 is not sufficient to stimulate PACAP-induced *PENK* expression by itself because insulin-like growth factor 1 (AP-1 activator) could not upregulate *PENK* transcription, while introduction of c-Fos antisense RNA reduced PACAP-induced *PENK* expression by 80%. Caffeine administration into male rats stimulates PENK expression in striatum (82). In these rats there was an upregulation of mRNA for c-Fos, c-Jun and JunB, but no JunD in the striatum confirmed by *in situ* hybridization.

Shortly after that PENK mRNA was induced in the same brain region. Furthermore, increased AP-1 DNA-binding activity was found after caffeine injection in rat striatum in EMSA experiment with AP-1 consensus, and a presence of AP-1 proteins (c-Fos, c-Jun and JunB) in AP-1 motif was confirmed by supershifts. Surprisingly, Svenningsson *et al.* (82) could not detect altered binding of AP-1 to ENKCRE-2 by EMSA which questions the link between caffeine-driven AP-1 induction and *PENK* transcriptional upregulation.

Analyses of the supershifted EMSA patterns revealed that CREB, and not AP-1, plays an important role in the *PENK* stimulation by haloperidol in the rat striatum (83). Studies of transgenic mice carrying *PENK* regulatory sequences (3 kb fragment of 5'-flanking region, the first exon and intron and 1.2 kb fragment of 3'-flanking region) fused to the beta-galactosidase showed that after hyperosmotic stress c-Fos, phosphorylated CREB and transgene expression colocalized in the PVN (84). Furthermore, implementation of EMSA with supershifts showed increased AP-1 DNA binding activity in hypothalamus, nevertheless Fos failed to bind to ENKCRE-2 enhancer, unless phosphorylated CREB was present. It suggests that P-CREB, and not AP-1, regulates PENK expression in PVN of hypertonic stressed mice. Using EMSA and supershifts Pennypacker et al. (85) could not find AP-1 proteins in ENKCRE-2 element obtained from hippocampal neuronal and mixed neuronal/glial cell cultures despite of PENK transcriptional induction. After peripheral nociceptive stimulation of rats by formalin injection into the hindpaw PENK transcription is activated in the brainstem parabrachial nucleus (86). Using in situ hybridization and immunohistochemistry it has been shown that almost all PENK expressing neurons displayed phosphorylated CREB protein, while only a small fraction of the neurons expressed Fos immunoreactivity.

5.2.5. Preprodynorphin (*PDYN*)

PDYN is a member of opioid neuropeptide precursor protein family. It gives a rise to secondary peptides prodynorphin A, prodynorphin B and α neoendorphin. These peptides bind kappa-opioid receptors and inhibit neurotransmission. PDYN has been involved in pathophysiology of drug abuse (morphine, cocaine, nicotine, ethanol), cocaine abstinence, ethanol withdrawal, epilepsy, pain and mood disorders. PDYN induction occurs in a tissue-specific manner following different stimuli. There are many papers that reported AP-1-dependence of PDYN expression in the spinal cord (87-96), but much less is known about this relationship in the brain. AP-1-driven stimulation of PDYN has been suggested to be dependent on the non-canonical AP-1 binding site (ncDynAP-1; TGAGAAACA) and combined CRE/AP-1 motifs (DYNCRE2 and DYNCRE3) in PDYN promoter (90, 91, 97, 98, 99). A reporter assay in PC12 cells indicated that DYNCRE3 element mediated CREB-driven repression of PDYN (91). Stimulus-specific changes in nuclear protein composition establish a functional hierarchy among the regulatory sites (87). ncDynAP-1 is the most important motif for PDYN induction in neurons of supraoptic nucleus after acute osmotic stress (shown by EMSA with

supershifts), and is activated there by c-Fos and c-Jun (87). A relationship between AP-1 activation and PDYN induction in supraoptic nucleus is strengthened by colocalization of c-Fos protein with PDYN mRNA. ncDynAP-1 is also important for PDYN activation in NCB20 neuroblastoma cell line after treatment with phorbol esters (90). Acute or chronic amphetamine administration induces PDYN in the rat striatum and in primary neuronal cultures of striatal neurons (100). Using EMSA it has been shown that phospho-CREB bound CRE/AP-1 motifs from PDYN promoter are mediators of this effect. Not all AP-1 complexes stimulate PDYN transcription. DeltaFosB decreases dynorphin expression (101). D₁ receptor agonists induce *PDYN* expression in the striatum (102). This effect is multiplied several fold by removing the dopaminergic innervation to the striatum. Using adult male rats with neurons in the substantia nigra injected unilaterally with 6-hydroxydopamine and then after recovery with another dopamine agonist apomorphine it was shown that apomorphine induced strongly PDYN mRNA and protein in the striatum ipsilateral to the side of the 6-hydroxydopamine injection (102). PDYN induction coincided with upregulated expression of Fos proteins, but not Jun proteins, and increased AP-1 DNA binding activity in the striatum. It has also been shown that chronic pain increases PDYN expression in the sensory neurons that could be mediated by AP-1 motif activation in the promoter (91).

A common polymorphism has been described in the PDYN core promoter region which influences the PDYN expression. The polymorphism is a 68 bp sequence containing an atypical AP-1 site and repeated from 1 to 4 times in particular alleles. EMSA experiments indicated biological activity of atypical AP-1 site (TGACTTA) of 68 bp sequence (103). Chloramphenicol acetyltransferase (CAT) assays using neuroblastoma NG108-15 cells showed no differences in basal promoter activity between particular promoter polymorphs. On the other hand, TPA stimulation activated promoters containing triplicate and quadruplicate 68 bp sequences by 47% and 53% respectively, but not the other two promoter variants (103). A population-based association study of 118 heroin addicts and 111 unaffected individuals showed no significant differences in gene frequencies and genotype distribution between both groups (103). Another study examining allelic frequencies and genotype distribution of the polymorphism involved 61 individuals with cocaine dependence, 21 with cocaine abuse and 91 with no history of any substance dependence or abuse. It showed that the subjects with PDYN alleles composed of promoter regions containing triplicate or quadruplicate 68 bp polymorphic sequences have lower susceptibility to develop cocaine dependence or abuse (104). Considering the importance of a link between dopamine, drugs of abuse and PDYN it would be of great interest to gather more definitive evidence for a role of AP-1 in driving the *PDYN* expression.

5.2.6. Tyrosine hydroxylase (*TH*, *TYH*)

TH is the catecholamine biosynthesis ratelimiting enzyme expressed in many brain structures. AP-1 binds to the TH-"Fat Specific Element" (TH-FSE) TGATTCAGAGGCA in the TH promoter. TH-FSE contains homology to TRE (105, 106). TH-FSE mediates both induction and repression of the TH promoter by Fos proteins in PC12 cells (107). In the rat pheochromocytoma PC12 and PC8b cell lines, TH-FSE participates strongly in basal *TH* promoter transcriptional activity and is necessary for NGF-induced TH expression (105, 108). Adult transgenic mice bearing lac \hat{Z} or HSV1-tk reporter linked to the containing mutated AP-1 site 5.3kb fragment of 5' TH flanking sequence have abolished TH expression in catecholaminergic structures such as olfactory bulbs (periglomerular cells), hypothalamus (arcuate nucleus, paraventricular and periventricular nuclei), substantia nigra and ventral tegmental area, locus coeruleus, and adrenal medulla (109). On the other hand, the TH expression in the transgenic mouse embryos was maintained. Thus, AP-1 motif appears to be essential for basal TH expression in adult tissues in vivo, whereas different TF binding elements are engaged in *TH* regulation during development.

TH expression in the rodent olfactory bulb displays activity dependence. After nasal closure, TH expression is downregulated. At the same time there is a decrease in FosB levels showed by Western blotting. Olfactory bulb immunohistochemical data show that after odor-deprivation c-Fos and FosB protein downregulations parallel decrease in TH expression. It have also been showed that c-fos mRNA and protein partially colocalized with TH mRNA and protein in the glomerular layer of olfactory bulb (18). Furthermore, a subpopulation of FosB immunoreactive cells in the glomerular layer also express TH (18). In contrast, nasal closure did not influence CREB and JunD expression in the olfactory bulb. In EMSA experiments odor-deprived mice had reduced TH-AP-1 binding in comparison with the control animals (18). Supershift assays revealed strong presence of FosB and JunD (the only Jun protein studied) in AP-1 complexes of control mice and reduced presence in odor-deprived mice. c-Fos, CREB and CREM were absent in TH-AP-1 site of both studied groups. In contrast, TH-CRE binding activity was composed of CREB, CREM, FosB, and to lesser extend JunD, but not c-Fos. The data suggests that CRE motif plays minor role as compared to TRE motif in regulation of TH expression in the mouse olfactory bulb. Study using three lines of transgenic mice carrying a construct with 8.9kb fragment of TH promoter driving a lacZ reporter gene expression with a mutant TH-AP-1 site demonstrated that this element confers olfactory bulb dopamine-specific TH expression regulation (110). β-gal activity measured in olfactory bulb homogenates from mutant mice was from 4- to 15-fold lower. The mice had no transgene expression in the mitral cell layer and significantly reduced in the periglomerular region of the olfactory bulb, while similar transgenic mice with wild type promoter showed there strong transgene expression.

Lithium cation is one of the drugs used for the treatment of manic-depressive illness (MDI). There is a bulk of evidence for the involvement of the noradrenergic and dopaminergic systems in the pathophysiology of MDI (111). At therapeutic concentrations, lithium regulates gene expression by induction of AP-1 DNA binding activity

(112, 113). Lithium treatment of male Wistar rats leads to the increase of TH expression in frontal cortex, striatum and hippocampus shown by western blot analysis (111).

During an in vitro development of striatal neurons there is a stage at which they can be transdifferentiated from GABAergic to TH expressing /dopamine-producing cells by synergistic action of acidic fibroblast growth factor (aFGF), and dopamine or protein kinase A (e.g. isobutylmethylxanthine (IBMX) plus forskolin) or protein kinase C (e.g. TPA) activators. The signals merge mainly onto mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) and activate it. Combined aFGF TH induction by addition of aFGF, dopamine, IBMX, forskolin and TPA to cultures of E14 rat striatal neurons changes a composition of the AP-1 complexes bound to TH-AP-1 site (14). EMSA supershift analysis revealed that TH-AP-1 site is occupied by c-Jun, JunD and FosB in uninduced E14 rat striatal neurons. There is no c-Fos present in TH-AP-1 despite noticeable c-Fos expression confirmed by Western blot analysis. One hour after the stimulation, JunD and FosB binding strongly increased whereas c-Jun remained constant, furthermore two additional AP-1 complexes were formed which supershifted with the anti-c-Fos antibody. These additional complexes were almost absent at 6h after stimulation. At this time point JunD and FosB bindings were still elevated and c-Jun one was constant. AP-1 at 1h and 6h and in unstimulated cells did not contain Fra-1, Fra-2 and JunB. c-Jun and JunD western blot expression levels were constant during time course, so changes in phosphorylation status possibly are responsible for enhanced JunD binding to TH-AP-1 site. Neither aFGF nor dopamine nor IBMX/forskolin nor TPA treatment were capable of inducing the TH expression, but the action of particular stimuli alone did change AP-1 composition in the characteristic way. Changes in the composition of AP-1 complexes at 1h during aFGF treatment mimics the ones during the combined treatment (aFGF+dopamine+ IBMX+forskolin+TPA) qualitatively. The amount of c-Fos, FosB and JunD in AP-1 during the former stimulation was considerably less than during the combined one. At 1h after dopamine treatment only JunD binding to TH-AP-1 increased. IBMX plus forskolin treatment augmented binding of FosB at 1h, whereas TPA stimulation led to decreased FosB and JunD bindings. Thus aFGF plays central but insufficient role in initiating TH expression in striatal neurons in culture. The other stimuli amplify activating effects of aFGF or reverse repressive changes induced by aFGF during TH activation. EMSA competition experiment showed that during aFGF/dopamine/IBMX/forskolin/TPA treatment of striatal neurons TH-CRE oligonucleotide could partially deplete the TH-AP-1 complexes (14). Then supershift experiments confirmed that CREB/ATF family members contribute to formation of AP-1 complexes in TH-AP-1 site. Unstimulated striatal neurons had ATF-2 and CREM-1 binding activities in TH-AP-1 site which were reduced 1h after combined stimulation. ATF-2 and CREM-1 levels in western blotting were unchanged. There were no detectable CREB-1, CREB-2, ATF-1, ATF-3 and CBP in TH-AP-1 site in stimulated and unstimulated cells. Dopamine or TPA treatment had no effect on CREB/ATF members. aFGF

treatment stimulated ATF-2 and CREM-1 binding, whereas IBMX/forskolin inhibited it. Pretreatment the striatal neurons with PD 98059 (a specific inhibitor of MAPK and its upstream kinase - MAPK kinase) and then stimulation with aFGF/dopamine/IBMX/ forskolin/TPA prevented all changes induced in TH-AP-1 by the stimulation, moreover FosB, JunD and c-Jun bindings observed under unstimulated condition were absent after incubation of the neurons with PD 98059. Taken the above data together, in unstimulated striatal neurons AP-1 in TH-AP-1 site consists mainly of c-Jun/c-Jun, JunD/JunD, c-Jun/JunD which show low binding activity and of c-Jun/FosB and JunD/FosB with high binding activity. After treatment with aFGF/dopamine/IBMX/forskolin/TPA and TH induction the predominant complexes are potent transactivators and DNA binders JunD/c-Fos and JunD/FosB, and abundance of repressive complexes JunD/ATF-2 and CREM-1/CREM-1 is reduced.

The multiple studies showing *TH* expression to be AP-1 dependent in the brain as well as other tissues and cells in culture appear to provide particularly compelling evidence for a role for AP-1 in this case. However, the variety of methods employed is still far from exhaustive, especially as far as the brain is concerned.

5.3. Genes encoding the neurotrophins, and cytokines 5.3.1. Fas Ligand

AP-1 regulated transcription of Fas ligand (FasL, CD95-L, APO-1) and Fas genes is well documented outside CNS. Recently, AP-1-driven regulation of FasL has been shown in the mouse brain cortex (114). Using extracts from mice cortex and oligonucleotides corresponding to AP-1 consensus as well as to three fragments of FasL promoter containing computer-indicated, potential TRE elements (-282/-252, -233/-215 and -119/-103 fragments) Ishibashi et al. (114) performed EMSA assay. EMSA patterns revealed strongly increased protein complex formation with all 4 sequences in extracts derived from cortex of mice subjected to focal cerebral ischemia/reperfusion using intraluminal suture method, whereas only slight increase in extracts from transgenic mice overexpressing human intracellular glutathione peroxidase (GPx1). These results suggested that AP-1 was regulated by GPx1-sensitive reactive oxygen species and after activation by free radicals stimulates FasL expression. EMSA supershift assay showed presence of c-Fos and c-Jun in complexes formed with AP-1 consensus, -282/-252 and -119/-103 fragments, and ATF-2 together with c-Jun on the -233/-215 fragment. The specificity of the binding was verified in the presence of competitive and noncompetitive oligonucleotides. To obtain more definitive support for the role of AP-1 in control of FasL in the brain it would be very important to follow other experimental approaches as described above.

Spatio-temporal evidence suggested that tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL) and Fas-L may be AP-1 targets in the brain during ischemia induced apoptosis. Ischemic injury stimulates a cellular stress response which leads to activation of c-Jun N-terminal kinases/stress-activated protein kinases (JNK/SAPKs). The kinases translocate into the nucleus and

phosphorylate c-Jun at Ser63 and Ser73. This results in activation of c-Jun which may upregulate transcription of *TRAIL*, *Fas-L* and *TNF-alpha* in the neurons of the adult brain (115). After ischemia TUNEL-positive brain neurons showed colocalization of phosphorylated c-Jun (but not non-phosphorylated c-Jun) with Fas-L and TRAIL mRNA and protein. Administration of FK506 (immunosuppressant blocking c-Jun phosphorylation), parallel to induction of the ischemia, inhibited Fas-L and TRAIL expression and prevented occurrence of the apoptosis. Similar results were obtained in cultures of neuron-derived neuroblastomas. It would be interesting to see whether these data are matched by the others obtained with more extended scope of methods allowing to study a role of AP-1 in a regulation of the gene expression in the brain.

5.3.2. Nerve growth factor (*NGF*)

Brain NGF expression occurs in an area-specific manner related to inducer (116). Activation of β -adrenergic receptors induces NGF synthesis in the rat cerebral cortex but not in the other brain areas. Excitatory neurotransmitters upregulate NGF mostly in limbic system, in hippocampus and in the cortex and IL-1 in hippocampus. NGF is apparently involved in development and maintenance of epileptic patterns of neuronal activity and functional neuroplasticity after seizures. It induces axonal sprouting, neurotransmitter synthesis, kindling and potentiation synaptic transmission. NGF AP-1 binding site is situated in the first intron of the gene (22, 117). It has been suggested that NGF can be AP-1 target during global ischemia in gebrils (118). Solution hybridization technique quantification showed that NGF transcription is markedly upregulated at 4 and 24 h after hilus-lesion (HL)-induced limbic seizures in rats, with a intervening return to control animal values at 10hr (13). EMSA studies of dentate gyrus nuclear extracts from rats after HL-induced limbic seizures revealed that binding to NGF AP-1 was significantly elevated by 4hr, and remained such to at least 24hr time point (13). Additionally, EMSA supershift analysis of the AP-1 composition at 4, 10 and 24hr after HL-induced lesions with antibodies against c-Jun, JunB, JunD, c-Fos, FosB, Fra2 showed that JunB presence in AP-1 complexes was correlated with decreased NGF expression, whereas JunD with NGF upregulation. c-Jun was not detected, but because the first studied time point was 4 h, so it is possible that c-Jun (P-c-Jun?) composes AP-1 complexes bound to the NGF TRE earlier. Furthermore, Gall and Elliott did not detect Fra-2 presence, but they observed AP-1 containing c-Fos and FosB (13). c-Fos was abundant in AP-1 at early time point and then subsided, FosB acted inversely.

Induction of NGF expression in the rat cerebral cortex by stimulation of β -adrenergic receptors with their agonist clenbuterol is AP-1 independent process despite of observed c-Fos and c-Jun mRNA upregulation (116). EMSA using NGF-AP-1 motif showed no changes in AP-1 binding in the hippocampus, cerebellum and cerebral cortex after clenbuterol treatment. In reporter assay the clenbuterol-driven NGF induction was not affected by deletion of the AP-1 element of NGF promoter in C6-2B glioma cells. Similar experiment performed with PC12 cells showed strongly decreased basal promoter activity.

PC12 cells contain C/EBPbeta but not essential for *NGF* promoter activity C/EBPdelta. It suggests that AP-1 may regulate basic *NGF* transcription when C/EBPdelta is not active.

5.3.3. Tumor necrosis factor alpha (*TNF-alpha*)

TNF-alpha is one of the main inflammatory cytokines in the central nervous system. TNF-alpha increases the blood-brain barrier permeability, sometimes even leading to its breakdown. Furthermore, TNF-alpha contributes to inflammation-related neurotoxicity, brain and degeneration, for instance methamphetamine (METH) (119) or cocaine abuse (120). METH-dependent alterations of human brain microvascular endothelial cell (BMEC) redox status lead to activation of redox-responsive TFs, AP-1 and NF-kappaB. It has been shown by EMSA and luciferase assays with wild type as well as AP-1 site and NF-kappaB site mutated TNF-alpha promoters that TNF-alpha transcription in human BMECs is upregulated by coordinated action of AP-1 and NFkappaB. Neither AP-1 site-mutated TNF-alpha promoter luciferase construct nor NF-kappaB site mutated one could be transactivated in human BMECs. After METH administration into mice increased AP-1 DNA binding activity was observed in corpus striatum, frontal cortex and hippocampus (the other brain regions were not investigated) (121), and then an upregulation of TNFalpha mRNA. Augmented TNF-alpha protein expression was detected only in the frontal cortex.

5.3.4. Monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (*MCP-1*)

MCP-1 is a chemokine implicated in the pathogenesis of HIV-associated dementia. It stimulates chemotaxis and transmigration of inflammatory cells as well as upregulates cytokines and adhesion molecules. MCP-1 promoter contains TRE (122), and AP-1-driven transcriptional regulation of MCP-1 has been reported for IL-1beta-stimulated human endothelial cells (123). Tat is a trans-activating non-structural HIV nuclear regulatory protein which markedly increases cellular oxidative stress and can break down the blood-brain barrier. Tat₁₋₇₂ injected into mouse hippocampus in vivo strongly increased MCP-1 expression in BMECs. It was showed by EMSA and reporter gene assay that Tat₁₋₇₂ stimulates AP-1 site DNA binding activity and AP-1 transactivation in cultures of the BMEC. EMSA supershifts identified c-Fos and c-Jun in AP-1 site of the Tat₁₋₇₂ stimulated *MCP-1* in BMECs (124).

5.4. Other genes

Cyclin-dependent kinase 5 gene (*Cdk5*) was pulled down as the AP-1 target in DNA array analysis of striatum mRNA from transgenic mice inducibly expressing DeltaFosB (125). In the striatum of the transgenic mice and chronically cocaine treated rats there was an increase in *Cdk5* and *p35* (neuron-specific Cdk5-activating cofactor; another putative AP-1 target gene) message, protein and activity. Moreover, striatal injection of Cdk5 inhibitors (roscovitine and olomoucine) potentiated behavioral effects of chronic cocaine administration. This has indicated that observed Cdk5 upregulation was a compensatory adaptation for chronic cocaine exposure constituting negative feedback loop trying to restore homeostasis.

6. PERSPECTIVE

In this review we have attempted to collect examples of genes for which evidence of AP-1 regulation in the brain has been particularly strong or just strongly debated. The careful survey of the literature shows that despite claims of a number of AP-1 dependent genes, the supporting data for such a regulation in the brain has been in fact very limited. We have included in our review only those whose AP-1 regulation was supported by meaningful evidence derived from the in vivo studies. Purposely, we have left out a number of very interesting genes, whose AP-1-driven expression in the brain was shown mainly, if not exclusively in *in vitro* experiments. To name just some of them we can list: glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) (85, 126, 127), urokinase-type plasminogen activator (uPA) (128, 129), plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 (PAI-1) (128), alpha₁-antichymotrypsin (ACT) (130), amyloid precursor protein (APP) (131), proopiomelanocortin (POMC) (132-135), thyrotropin-releasing hormone (TRH) (136, 137), neuropeptide Y (NPY) (138, 139, 140), glutamate receptor 6 (GluR6) (141), galanin (GAL) (142, 143, 144), inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) (145, 146, 147), tyrosine kinase receptor for scatter factor/hepatocyte growth factor (c-met, HGFR) (148), brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) (141), vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) (149), neurotensin/neuromedin N (NT/N) (150), Bcl-2-interacting mediator of cell death (Bim) (118, 151), c-jun (67), fosB (141), nuclear factorkappaB p105 (NF-kappaB p105) (152).

Interestingly, the potentially AP-1-driven genes could be grouped in just a handful of categories. Thus, it remains as an attractive possibility that AP-1 controls a defined subset of neuronal and glial responses in the brain. It has, however, to be noted that elaborated evidence of AP-1 dependence is available only for a very limited number of genes in the brain.

7. ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

Marcin Rylski dedicates the review to his parents, Urszula and Maciej. We are sorry to all colleagues whose papers were not cited because of limited volume of the review. This work was supported by the State Committee for Scientific Research (KBN, Poland, 6P04A03619).

8. REFERENCES

- 1. Gerlai R. Gene targeting technical confounds and potential solutions in behavioral brain research. *Behav Brain Res* 125, 13-21 (2001)
- 2. Szklarczyk AW, Kaczmarek L. Brain as a unique antisense environment. *Antisense Nucl Acid Drug Dev* 9, 105-16 (1999)
- 3. O'Shea EK, Rutkowski R, Kim PS. Mechanism of specificity in the Fos-Jun oncoprotein homodimer. *Cell* 68, 699-708 (1992)

- 4. Bohmann D, Bos TJ, Admon A, Nishimura T, Vogt PK, Tjian R. Human proto-oncogene c-jun encodes a DNA binding protein with structural and functional properties of transcription factor AP-1. *Science* 238, 1386-1392 (1987)
- 5. Ryseck RP, Bravo R. c-Jun, JunB, and JunD differ in their binding affinities to AP-1 and CRE consensus sequences, effect of Fos proteins. *Oncogene* 6, 533-542 (1991)
- 6. Kobierski LA, Chu H-M, Tan Y, Comb MJ. cAMP-dependent regulation of proenkephalin by JunD and JunB, positive and negative effects of AP-1 proteins. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 88, 10222-10226 (1991)
- 7. Gruda MC, Kovary K, Metz R, Bravo R. Regulation of Fra-1 and Fra-2 phosphorylation differs during the cell cycle of fibroblasts and phosphorylation *in vitro* by MAP kinase affects DNA binding activity. *Oncogene* 9, 2537-2547 (1994)
- 8. Bannister AJ, Brown HJ, Sutherland JA, Kouzarides T. Phosphorylation of the c-Fos and c-Jun HOB1 motif stimulates its activation capacity. *Nucl Acid Res* 22, 5173-5176 (1994)
- 9. Bannister AJ, Oehler T, Wilhelm D, Angel P, Kouzarides T. Stimulation of c-Jun activity by CBP, c-jun residues Ser 63/67 are required for CBP induced stimulation *in vivo* and CBP binding *in vitro*. *Oncogene* 11, 2509-2514 (1995)
- 10. Claret FX, Hibi M, Dhut S, Toda T, Karin M. A new group of conserved coactivators that increase the specificity of AP-1 transcription factors. *Nature* 383, 453-457 (1996)
- 11. Schutte J, Viallet J, Nau M, Segal S, Fadorko J, Minna J. Jun-B inhibits and c-Fos stimulates the transforming and transactivating activities of c-Jun. *Cell* 59, 987-997 (1989)
- 12. Suzuki T, Okuno H, Yoshida T, Endo T, Nishina H, Iba H. Difference in transcriptional regulatory function between c-Fos and Fra-2. *Nucl Acid Res* 19, 5537-5542 (1991)
- 13. Gall CM, Elliott RC. Changes in activating protein 1 (AP-1) composition correspond with the biphasic profile of nerve growth factor mRNA expression in rat hippocampus after hilus lesion-induced seizures. *J Neurosci* 20, 2142-2149 (2000)
- 14. Guo Z, Du X, Iacovitti L. Regulation of tyrosine hydroxylase gene expression during transdifferentiation of striatal neurons, changes in transcription factors binding the AP-1 site. *J Neurosci* 15, 8163-8174 (1998)
- 15. Hai T, Curran T. Cross-family dimerization of transcription factors Fos/Jun and ATF/CREB alters DNA binding specificity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 88, 3720-3724 (1991)

- 16. Sassone-Corsi P, Ransone LJ, Lamph WW, Verma IM. Direct interaction between fos and jun nuclear oncoproteins, role of the "leucine zipper" domain. *Nature* 336, 692-695 (1988)
- 17. Kaminska B, Kaczmarek L, Chaudhuri A. Visual stimulation regulates the expression of transcription factors and modulates the composition of AP-1 in visual cortex. *J Neurosci* 16,3968-3978 (1996)
- 18. Kashihara K, Sato K, Akiyama K, Okada S, Ishihara T, Hayabara T, Shomori T. Temporal pattern of AP-1 DNA-binding activity in the rat hippocampus following a kindled seizure. *Neuroscience* 80, 753-761 (1997)
- 19. Kaminska B, Filipkowski RK, Zurkowska G, Lason W, Przewlocki R, Kaczmarek L. Dynamic changes in the composition of the AP-1 transcription factor DNA-binding activity in fat brain following kainate-induced seizures and cell death. *Eur J Neurosci* 6, 1558-1566 (1994)
- 20. Lukasiuk K, Kaczmarek L. AP-1 and CRE DNA binding activities in rat brain following pentylenetetrazole induced seizures. *Brain Res* 643,227-233 (1994)
- 21. Szabowski A, Maas-Szabowski N, Andrecht S, Kolbus A, Schorpp-Kistner M, Fusenig NE, Angel P. c-Jun and JunB antagonistically control cytokine-regulated mesenchymal-epidermal interaction in skin. *Cell* 103,745-55 (2000)
- 22. Kaminska B, Kaczmarek L, Zangenehpour S, Chaudhuri A. Rapid phosphorylation of Elk-1 transcription factor and activation of MAP kinase signal transduction pathways in response to visual stimulation. *Mol Cell Neurosci* 13,405-414 (1999)
- 23. Sonnenberg JL, Macgregor-Leon PF, Curran T, Morgan JI. Dynamic alterations occur in the levels and composition of transcription factor AP-1 complexes after seizure. *Neuron* 3, 359-365 (1989)
- 24. Hengerer B, Lindholm D, Heumann R, Ruther U, Wagner EF, Thoenen H. Lesion-induced increase in nerve growth factor mRNA is mediated by c-Fos. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 87, 3899-3903 (1990)
- 25. Kaczmarek L, Chaudhuri A. Sensory regulation of immediate-early gene expression in mammalian visual cortex, implications for functional mapping and neural plasticity. *Brain Res Rev* 23, 237-256 (1997)
- 26. Nikolaev E, Kaminska B, Tischmeyer W, Matthies H, Kaczmarek L. Induction of expression of genes encoding transcription factors in the rat brain elicited by behavioral training. *Brain Res Bull* 28, 479-484 (1992)
- 27. Nikolaev E, Werka T, Kaczmarek L. C-fos protooncogene expression in rat brain after long-term training of two-way active avoidance reaction. *Behav Brain Res* 48, 91-94 (1992)

- 28. Weber JRM, Skene JHP. The activity of a highly promiscuous AP-1 element can be confined to neurons by a tissue-selective repressive element. *J Neurosci* 18, 5264-5274 (1998)
- 29. Liu N, Cigola E, Tinti C, Jin BK, Conti B, Volpe BT, Baker H. Unique regulation of immediate early gene and tyrosine hydroxylase expression in the odor-deprived mouse olfactory bulb. *J Biol Chem* 274, 3042-3047 (1999)
- 30. Nakabeppu Y, Ryder K, Nathans D. DNA binding activities of three murine Jun proteins, stimulation by Fos. *Cell* 55, 907-915 (1988)
- 31. Pennypacker KR, Hudson PM, Hong JS, McMillian MK. DNA binding activity of CREB transcription factors during ontogeny of the central nervous system. *Dev Brain Res* 86, 242-249 (1995)
- 32. Robertson LM, Kerppola TK, Vendrell M, Luk D, Smeyne RJ, Bocchiaro C, Morgan JI, Curran T. Regulation of c-fos expression in transgenic mice requires multiple interdependent transcription control elements. *Neuron* 14, 241-252 (1995)
- 33. Jaworski J, Biedermann IW, Lapinska J, Szklarczyk A, Figiel I, Konopka D, Nowicka D, Filipkowski RK, Hetman M, Kowalczyk A, Kaczmarek L. Neuronal excitation-driven and AP-1-dependent activation of tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases-1 gene expression in rodent hippocampus. *J Biol Chem* 274, 28106-28112 (1999)
- 34. Yong VW, Power C, Forsyth P, Edwards DR. Metalloproteinases in biology and pathology of the nervous system. *Nature Rev Neurosci* 2, 502-511 (2001)
- 35. Kaczmarek L, Lapinska-Dzwonek J, Szymczak S. Matrix metalloproteinases in the adult brain physiology, a link between c-Fos, AP-1 and remodeling of neuronal connections? *EMBO J* 21, 6643-6648 (2002)
- 36. Nedivi E, Hevroni D, Naot D, Israeli D, Citri Y. Numerous candidate plasticity-related genes revealed by differential cDNA cloning. *Nature* 363, 718-22 (1993)
- 37. Rivera S, Tremblay E, Timsit S, Canals O, Ben-Ari Y, Khrestchatisky M. Tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases-1 (TIMP-1) is differentially induced in neurons and astrocytes after seizures, evidence for developmental, immediate early gene, and lesion response. *J Neurosci* 17,4223-4235 (1997)
- 38. Botelho FM, Edwards DR, Richards CD. Oncostatin M stimulates c-Fos to bind a transcriptionally responsive AP-1 element within the tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase-1 promoter. *J Biol Chem* 273, 5211-5218 (1998)
- 39. Bugno M, Graeve L, Gatsios P, Koj A, Heinrich PC, Travis J, Kordula T. Identification of the interleukin-6/oncostatin M response element in the rat tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases-1 (TIMP-1) promoter. *Nucleic Acids Res* 23, 5041-5047 (1995)

- 40. Dean C, Seagard JL. Expression of c-fos protein in the nucleus tractus solitarius in response to physiological activation of carotid baroreceptors. *Neuroscience* 69, 249-257 (1995)
- 41. Herzig TC, Jobe SM, Aoki H, Molkentin JD, Cowley AW, Izumo S, Markham BE. Angiotensin II type_{1a} receptor gene expression in the heart, AP-1 and GATA-4 participate in the response to pressure overload. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 94, 7543-7548 (1997)
- 42. Kobayashi SI, Ohnishi J, Nibu Y, Nishimatsu SI, Umemura S, Ishii M, Murakami K, Miyazaki H. Cloning of the rat angiotensin II type 2 receptor gene and identification of its functional promoter region. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1262, 155-158 (1995)
- 43. Wang LL, Chan SHH, Chan JYH. Fos protein is required for the re-expression of angiotensin II type 1 receptors in the nucleus tractus solitarii after baroreceptor activation in the rat. *Neuroscience* 103, 143-151 (2001)
- 44. Schaden H, Stuermer CA, Bahr M. GAP-43 immunoreactivity and axon regeneration in retinal ganglion cells of the rat. *J Neurobiol* 25, 1570-1578 (1994)
- 45. Van der Zee CE, Nielander HB, Vos JP, Lopes da Silva S, Verhaagen J, Oestreicher AB, Schrama LH, Schotman P, Gipsen WH. Expression of growth-associated protein B-50 (GAP43) in dorsal root ganglia and sciatic nerve during regenerative sprouting. *J Neurosci* 9, 3505-3512 (1989)
- 46. Groen PC, Eggen BJL, Gispen WH, Schotman P, Schrama LH. Cloning and promoter analysis of the human B-50/GAP-43 gene. *J Mol Neurosci* 6, 109-119 (1995)
- 47. Myers SJ, Dingledine R, Borges K. Genetic regulation of glutamate receptor ion channels. *Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol* 39, 221-241 (1999)
- 48. Kelz MB, Chen J, Carlezon Jr WA, Whisler K, Gilden L, Beckmann AM, Steffen C, Zhang YJ, Marotti L, Self DW, Tkatch T, Baranauskas G, Surmeier DJ, Neve RL, Duman RS, Picciotto MR, Nestler EJ. Expression of the transcription factor delta-FosB in the brain controls sensitivity to cocaine. *Nature* 401, 272-276 (1999)
- 49. McCue JM, Campion Quirk C, Nelson SE, Bowen RA, Clay CM. Expression of a murine gonadotropin-releasing hormone receptor-luciferase fusion gene in transgenic mice is diminished by immunoneutralization of gonadotropin-releasing hormone. *Endocrinology* 138, 3154-3160 (1997)
- 50. Ellsworth BS, White BR, Burns AT, Cherrington BD, Otis AM, Clay CM. c-Jun N-terminal kinase activation of activator protein-1 underlies homologous regulation of the gonadotropin-releaseing hormone receptor gene in alphaT3-1 cells. *Endocrinology* 144, 839-849 (2003)
- 51. Wong C, Rougier-Chapman EM, Frederick JP, Datto MB, Liberati NT, Li JM, Wang XF. Smad3-Smad4 and AP-1 complexes synergize in transcriptional activation of

- the c-Jun promoter by transforming growth factor beta. *Mol Cell Biol* 19,1821-1830 (1999)
- 52. Norwitz ER, Xu S, Xu J, Spiryda LB, Park JS, Jeong K-H, McGee EA, Kaiser UB. Direct binding of AP-1 (Fos/Jun) proteins to a SMAD binding element facilitates both gonadotropin-releasing hormone (GnRH)- and activin-mediated transcriptional activation of the mouse GnRH receptor gene. *J Biol Chem* 277, 37469-37478 (2002)
- 53. Norwitz ER, Cardona GR, Jeong KH, Chin WW. Identification and characterization of the gonadotropin-releasing hormone response elements in the mouse gonadotropin-releasing hormone receptor gene. *J Biol Chem* 274, 867-880 (1999)
- 54. White BR, Duval DL, Mulvaney JM, Robertson MS, Clay CM. Homologous regulation of the gonadotropin-releasing hormone receptor gene is partially mediated by protein kinase C activation of an activator protein-1 element. *Mol Endocrinol* 13, 566-577 (1999)
- 55. Cheng KW, Ngan ES, Kang SK, Chow BK, Leung PC. Transcriptional down-regulation of human gonadotropin-releasing hormone (GnRH) receptor gene by GnRH, role of protein kinase C and activating protein 1. *Endocrinology* 141, 3611-3622 (2000)
- 56. Strahl BD, Huang HJ, Pedersen NR, Wu JC, Ghosh BR, Miller WL. Two proximal activating protein-1-binding sites are sufficient to stimulate transcription of the ovine follicle-stimulating hormone-beta gene. *Endocrinology* 138, 2621-2631 (1997)
- 57. Strahl BD, Huang HJ, Sebastian J, Ghosh BR, Miller WL. Transcriptional activation of the ovine follicle-stimulating hormone beta-subunit gene by gonadotropin-releasing hormone, involvement of two activating protein-1-binding sites and protein kinase C. *Endocrinology* 139, 4455-4465 (1998)
- 58. Huang HJ, Sebastian J, Strahl BD, Wu JC, Miller WL. Transcriptional regulation of the ovine follicle-stimulating hormone-beta gene by activin and gonadotropin-releasing hormone (GnRH), Involvement of two proximal activator protein-1 sites for GnRH stimulation. *Endocrinology* 142, 2267-2274 (2001)
- 59.Karin M, Chang L. AP-1-glucocorticoid receptor crosstalk taken to a higher level. *J Endocrinol* 169, 447-451 (2001)
- 60. Malkoski SP, Handanos CM, Dorin RI. Localization of a negative glucocorticoid response element of the human corticotropin-releasing hormone gene. *Endocrinology* 127, 189-199 (1997)
- 61. Malkoski SP, Dorin RI. Composite glucocorticoid regulation at a functionally defined negative glucocorticoid response element of the human corticotropin-releasing hormone gene. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* 13, 1629-1644 (1999)

- 62. Behan DP, Potter E, Lewis KA, Jenkins NA, Copeland N, Lowry PJ, Vale WW. Cloning and structure of the human corticotrophin releasing factor-binding protein gene (CRHBP). *Genomics* 16, 63-68 (1993)
- 63. Imaki T, Nahan JL, Rivier C, Sawchenko PE, Vale W. Differential regulation of corticotropin-releasing factor mRNA in rat brain regions by glucocorticoids and stress. *J Neurosci* 11, 585-599 (1991)
- 64. Robinson BG, Emanuel RL, Frim DM, Majzoub JA. Glucocorticoid stimulates expression of corticotropin-releasing hormone gene in human placenta. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 85, 5244-5248 (1988)
- 65. Singh AK. Acute effects of acephate and methamidophos and interleukin-1 on corticotropin-releasing factor (CRF) synthesis in and release from the hypothalamus in vitro. *Comparative Biochem Physiol Part C* 132, 9-24 (2002)
- 66. Grace CO, Fink G, Quinn JP. Characterization of potential regulatory elements within the rat arginine vasopressin proximal promoter. *Neuropeptides* 33, 81-90 (1999)
- 67. Blume A, Georgakopoulos E, Lebrun C, Culman J, Mollenhoff E, Herdegen T, Unger T. Arginine-vasopressin as target of angiotensin II in the brain *in vitro*. Abstracts from the 11th International Symposium on Regulatory Peptides.
- 68. Kovacs KJ, Foldes A, Sawchenko PE.Glucocorticoid negative feedback selectively targets vasopressin transcription in parvocellular neurosecretory neurons. *J Neurosci* 20, 3843-3852 (2000)
- 69. Sonnenberg JL, Rauscher FJD, Morgan JI, Curran T. Regulation of proenkephalin by Fos and Jun. *Science* 246, 1622-1625 (1989)
- 70. Comb M, Birnberg NC, Seasholtz A, Herbert E, Goodman HM. A cyclic AMP- and phorbol ester-inducible DNA element. *Nature* 323, 353-356 (1986)
- 71. Comb M, Mermod N, Hyman SE, Pearlberg J, Ross ME, Goodman HM. Proteins bound at adjacent DNA elements act synergistically to regulate human proenkephalin cAMP inducible transcription. *EMBO J* 7, 3793-3805 (1988)
- 72. Won JS, Kim YH, Song DK, Huh SO, Lee JK, Suh HW. Stimulation of astrocyte-enriched culture with arachidonic acid increases proenkephalin mRNA, involvement of proto-oncoprotein and mitogen activated protein kinases. *Mol Brain Res* 76, 396-406 (2000)
- 73. Fu W, Shah SR, Jiang H, Hilt DC, Dave HP, Joshi JB. Transactivation of proenkephalin gene by HTLV-1 tax1 protein in glial cells, involvement of Fos/Jun complex at an AP-1 element in the proenkephalin gene promoter. *J Neurovirol* 3, 16-27 (1997)

- 74. Won JS, Suh HW, Kim YH, Song DK, Huh SO, Lee JK, Lee KJ. Prostaglandin E₂ increases proenkephalin mRNA level in rat astrocyte-enriched culture. *Mol Brain Res* 60, 203-214 (1998)
- 75. Won JS, Suh HW. The comparative analysis of proenkephalin mRNA expression induced by cholera toxin and pertussis toxin in primary cultured rat cortical astrocytes. *Mol Brain Res* 88, 83-93 (2001)
- 76. Bing G, Wilson B, Hundson P, Jin L, Feng Z, Zhang W, Bing R, Hong JS. A single dose of kainic acid elevates the levels of enkephalins and activator protein-1 transcription factors in the hippocampus for up to 1 year. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 94, 9422-9427 (1997)
- 77. Won JS, Kim YH, Song DK, Suh HW. The effect of cycloheximide on the regulation of proenkephalin and prodynorphin gene expressions induced by kainic acid in rat hippocampus. *Mol Brain Res* 47, 303-310 (1997)
- 78. Feng Z, Chang RCC, Bing G, Hudson P, Tiao N, Jin L, Hong JS. Long-term increase of Sp-1 transcription factors in the hippocampus after kainic acid treatment. *Mol Brain Res* 69, 144-148 (1999)
- 79. Won JS, Song DK, Huh SO, Kim YH, Suh HW. Effect of melatonin on the regulation of proenkephalin and prodynorphin mRNA levels induced by kainic acid in the rat hippocampus. *Hippocampus* 10, 236-243 (2000)
- 80. Przewlocki R, Kaminska B, Lukasiuk K, Nowicka DZ, Przewlocka B, Kaczmarek L, Lason W. Seizure related changes in the regulation of opioid genes and transcription factors in the dentate gyrus of rat hippocampus. *Neuroscience* 68, 73-81 (1995)
- 81. Monnier D, Loeffler JP. Pituitary adenylate cyclase-activating polypeptide stimulates proenkephalin gene transcription through AP1- and CREB-dependent mechanisms. *DNA Cell Biol* 17, 151-159 (1998)
- 82. Svenningsson P, Strom A, Johansson B, Fredholm BB. Increased expression of c-jun, junB, AP-1, and preproenkephalin mRNA in rat striatum following a single injection of caffeine. *J Neurosci* 15, 3583-3593 (1995)
- 83. Konradi C, Kobierski LA, Nguyen TV, Heckers S, Hyman SE. The cAMP-response-element-binding protein interacts, but Fos protein does not interact, with the preproenkephalin enhancer in rat striatum. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 90, 7005-7009 (1993)
- 84. Borsook D, Konradi C, Falkowski O, Comb M, Hyman SE. Molecular mechanisms of stress-induced proenkephalin gene regulation, CREB interacts with the proenkephalin gene in the mouse hypothalamus and is phosphorylated in response to hyperosmolar stress. *Mol Endocinol* 8, 240-248 (1994)
- 85. Pennypacker KR, Hong JS, Mullis SB, Hudson PM, McMillian MK. Transcription factors in primary glial

- cultures, changes with neuronal interactions. *Mol Brain Res* 37, 224-230 (1996)
- 86. Hermanson O, Blomqvist A. Differential expression of the AP-1/CRE-binding proteins FOS and CREB in preproenkephalin mRNA-expressing neurons of the rat parabrachial nucleus after nociceptive stimulation. *Mol Brain Res* 51, 188-196 (1997)
- 87. Carrion AM, Mellstrom B, Luckman SM, Naranjo JR. Stimulus-specific hierarchy of enhancer elements within the rat prodynorphin promoter. *J Neurochem* 70, 914-921 (1998)
- 88. Hunter JC, Woodburn VL, Durieux C, Pettersson EKE, Poat JA, Hughes J. c-Fos antisense oligodeoxynucleotide increases formalin-induced nociception and regulates preprodynorphin expression. *Neuroscience* 65, 485-492 (1995)
- 89. Lucas JJ, Mellstrom B, Colado MI, Naranjo JR. Molecular mechanisms of pain, serotonin_{1A} receptor agonists trigger transactivation by c-Fos of the prodynorphin gene in spinal cord neurons. *Neuron* 10, 599-611 (1993)
- 90. Naranjo JR, Mellstrom B, Achaval M, Sassone-Corsi P. Molecular pathways of pain, Fos/Jun-mediated activation of a noncanonical AP-1 site in the prodynorphin gene. *Neuron* 6, 607-617 (1991)
- 91. Messersmith DJ, Kim DJ, Iadarola MJ. Transcription factor regulation of prodynorphin gene expression following rat hindpaw inflammation. *Mol Brain Res* 53, 259-269 (1998)
- 92. Draisci G, Iadarola. Temporal analysis of increases in c-fos preprodynorphin and preproenkephalin mRNAs in rat spinal cord. *Mol Brain Res* 6, 31-37 (1989)
- 93. Hylden JL, Nogushi K, Ruda MA. Neonatal capsaicin treatment attenuates spinal Fos activation and dynorphin gene expression following peripheral tissue inflammation and hyperalgesia. *J Neurosci* 12, 1716-1725 (1992)
- 94. Iadarola MJ, Brady LS, Draisci G, Dubner R. Enhancement of dynorphin gene expression in spinal cord following experimental inflammation, stimulus specificity, behavioral parameters, and opioid receptor binding. *Pain* 35, 313-326 (1988)
- 95. Noguchi K, Kowalski K, Traub R, Solodkin A, Iadarola MJ, Ruda MA. Dynorphin expression and Fos-like immunoreactivity following inflammation induced hyperalgesia are colocalized in spinal cord neurons. *Mol Brain Res* 10, 227-233 (1991)
- 96. Takahashi O, Traub RJ, Ruda MA. Demonstration of calcitonin gene-related peptide immunoreactive axons, contacting dynorphin A(1-8) immunoreactive spinal neurons in a rat model of peripheral inflammation and hyperalgesia. *Brain Res* 475, 168-172 (1988)

- 97. Collins-Hicok J, Lin L, Spiro C, Laybourn PJ, Tschumper R, Rapacz B, McMurray CT. Induction of the rat prodynorphin gene through G₈-coupled receptors may involve phosphorylation-dependent derepression and activation. *Mol Cell Biol* 14, 2837-2848 (1994)
- 98. Messersmith DJ, Gu J, Dubner R, Douglass J, Iadarola MJ. Basal and inducible transcriptional activity of an upstream AP-1/CRE element (DYNCRE3) in the prodynorphin promoter. *Mol Cell Neurosci* 5, 238-245 (1994)
- 99. Messersmith DJ, Kim DJ, Gu J, Dubner R, Iadarola MJ. c-Jun activation of the DYNCRE3 site in the prodynorphin promoter. *Mol Brain Res* 40, 15-21 (1996)
- 100. Cole R, Konradi C, Douglass J, Hyman S. Neuronal adaptation to amphetamine and dopamine, molecular mechanisms of prodynorphin gene regulation in rat striatum. *Neuron* 14, 813-823 (1995)
- 101. Nestler EJ, Barrot M, Self DW. DeltaFosB, A sustained molecular switch for addiction. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 98, 11042-11046 (2001)
- 102. Bronstein DM, Ye H, Pennypacker KR, Hudson PM, Hong JS. Role of a 35kDa fos-related antigen (FRA) in the long-term induction of striatal dynorphin expression in the 6-hydroxydopamine lesioned rat. *Mol Brain Res* 23, 191-203 (1994)
- 103. Zimprich A, Kraus J, Woltje M, Mayer P, Rauch E, Hollt V. An allelic variation in the human prodynorphin gene promoter alters stimulus-induced expression. *J Neurochem* 74, 472-477 (2000)
- 104. Chen ACH, LaForge KS, Ho A, McHugh PF, Kellogg S, Bell K, Schluger RP, Leal SM, Kreek MJ. Potentially functional polymorphism in the promoter region of prodynorphin gene may be associated with protection against cocaine dependence or abuse. *Am J Med Genet* 114, 429-435 (2002)
- 105. Cambi F, Fung B, Chikaraishi D. 5' Flanking DNA sequences direct cell-specific expression of rat tyrosine hydroxylase. *J Neurochem* 53, 1656-1659 (1989)
- 106. Ghee M, Baker H, Miller JC, Ziff EB. AP-1, CREB and CBP transcription factors differentially regulate the tyrosine hydroxylase gene. *Mol Brain Res* 55, 101-114 (1998)
- 107. Gizang-Ginsberg E, Ziff EB. Fos family members successively occupy the tyrosine hydroxylase gene AP-1 site after nerve growth factor of epidermal growth factor stimulation and can repress transcription. *Mol Endocrinol* 8, 249-262 (1994)
- 108. Gizang G, Ziff EB. Nerve growth factor regulates tyrosine hydroxylase gene transcription through a nucleoprotein complex that contains c-Fos. *Genes Dev* 4, 477-491 (1990)

- 109. Trocme C, Sarkis C, Hermel JM, Duchateau R, Harrison S, Simonneau M, Al-Shawi R, Mallet J. CRE and TRE sequences of the rat tyrosine hydroxylase promoter are required for TH basal expression in adult mice but not in the embryo. *Eur J Neurosci* 10, 508-521 (1998)
- 110. Baker H, Liu N, Chun HS, Saino S, Berlin RA, Volpe B, Son JH. Phenotypic differentiation during migration of dopaminergic progenitor cells to the olfactory bulb. *J Neurosci* 21, 8505-8513 (2001)
- 111. Chen G, Yuan PX, Jiang YM, Huang LD, Manji HK. Lithium increases tyrosine hydroxylase levels both *in vivo* and *in vitro*. *J Neurochem* 70, 1768-1771 (1998)
- 112. Ozaki N, Chuang DM. Lithium increases transcription factor binding to AP-1 and cyclic AMP-responsive element in cultured neurons and rat brain. *J Neurochem* 69, 2336-2344 (1997)
- 113. Yuan PX, Chen G, Manji HK. Concordant regulation of gene expression by lithium and valproic acid *in vitro*. *Soc Neurosci Abstr* 22, 237 (1996)
- 114. Ishibashi N, Orikopenko O, Reuhl KR, Mirochnitchenko O. Inflammatory response and glutatione peroxidase in a model of stroke. *J Immunol* 168, 1926-1933 (2002)
- 115. Martin-Villalba A, Herr I, Jeremias I, Hahne M, Brandt R, Vogel J, Schenkel J, Herdegen T, Debatin KM. CD95 ligand (Fas-L/APO-1L) and tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand mediate ischemia-induced apoptosis in neurons. *J Neurosci* 19, 3809-3817 (1999)
- 116. Colangelo AM, Follesa P, Mocchetti I. Differential induction of nerve growth factor and basic fibroblast growth factor mRNA in neonatal and aged rat brain. *Mol Brain Res* 53, 218-225 (1998)
- 117. Cowie A, Ivanco TL, Fahnestock M. Mouse NGF promoter upstream sequences do not affect gene expression in mouse fibroblasts. *Mol Brain Res* 27, 58-62 (1994)
- 118. Whitfield J, Neame SJ, Paquet L, Bernard O, Ham J. Dominant-negative c-Jun promotes neuronal survival by reducing BIM expression and inhibiting mitochondrial cytochrome c release. *Neuron* 29, 629-643 (2001)
- 119. Lee YW, Hennig B, Yao J, Toborek M. Methamphetamine induces AP-1 and NF-κB binding and transactivation in human brain endothelial cells. *J Neurosci* Res 66, 583-591 (2001)
- 120. Lee WY, Hennig B, Fiala M, Kim KS, Toborek M. Cocaine activates redox-regulated transcription factors and induces TNF-alpha expression in human brain endothelial cells. *Brain Res* 920, 125-133 (2001)
- 121. Flora G, Lee YW, Nath A, Maragos W, Hennig B, Toborek M. Methamphetamine-induced TNF-alpha gene

- expression and activation of AP-1 in discrete regions of mouse brain, potential role of reactive oxygen intermediates and lipid peroxidation. *Neuromolecular Med* 2, 71-85 (2002)
- 122. Shyy YJ, Li YS, Kolattukudy PE. Structure of human monocyte chemotactic protein gene and its regulation by TPA. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 169, 346-351 (1990)
- 123. Martin T, Cardarelli PM, Parry GC, Felts KA, Cobb RR. Cytokine induction of monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 gene expression in human endothelial cells depends on the cooperative action of NF-kappa B and AP-1. *Eur J Immunol* 27, 1091-1097 (1997)
- 124. Toborek M, Lee YW, Pu H, Malecki A, Flora G, Garrido R, Hennig B, Bauer HC, Nath A. HIV-Tat protein induces oxidative and inflammatory pathways in brain endothelium. *J Neurochem* 84, 169-179 (2003)
- 125. Bibb JA, Chen J, Taylor JR, Svenningsson P, Nishi A, Snyder GL, Yan Z, Sagawa ZK, Ouimet CC, Nairn AC, Nestler EJ, Greengard P. Effects of chronic exposure to cocaine are regulated by the neuronal protein Cdk5. *Nature* 410, 376-380 (2001)
- 126. Han J-S, Bizon J, Chun HS, Maus CE, Gallagher M. Hippocampal glucocorticoid receptor mRNA in behaviorally characterized young and aged Long-Evans rats. *Soc Neurosci Abstr* 25, 2164 (1999)
- 127. Masood K, Besnard F, Su Y, Brenner M. Analysis of a segment of the human glial fibrillary acidic protein gene that directs astrocyte-specific transcription. *J Neurochem* 61, 160-166 (1993)
- 128. Kasza A, Kiss DL, Gopalan S, Xu W, Rydel RE, Koj A, Kordula T. Mechanism of plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 regulation by oncostatin M and interleukin-1 in human astrocytes. *J Neurochem* 83, 696-703 (2002)
- 129. Lakka SS, Bhattacharya A, Mohanam S, Boyd D, Rao JS. Regulation of the uPA gene in various grades of human glioma cells. *Int J Oncol* 18, 71-79 (2001)
- 130. Kordula T, Bugno M, Rydel RE, Travis J. Mechanism of interleukin-1- and tumor necrosis factor alpha-dependent regulation of the alpha₁-antichymotrypsin gene in human astrocytes. *J Neurosci* 15, 7510-7516 (2000)
- 131. Yang Y, Quitschke WW, Brewer GJ. Upregulation of amyloid precursor protein gene promoter in rat primary hippocampal neurons by phorbol ester, IL-1 and retinoic acid, but not by reactive oxygen species. *Mol Brain Res* 60, 40-49 (1998)
- 132. Autelitano DJ. Stress-induced stimulation of pituitary POMC gene expression is associated with activation of transcription factor AP-1 in hypothalamus and pituitary. *Brain Res Bull* 45,75-82 (1998)

- 133. Autelitano DJ. Glucocorticoid regulation of c-fos, c-jun and transcription factor AP-1 in the AtT-20 corticotrope cell. *J Neuroendocrinol* 6, 627-637 (1994)
- 134. Autelitano DJ, Cohen DR. CRF stimulates expression of multiple fos and jun related genes in the AtT-20 corticotroph cell. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* 119, 25-35 (1996)
- 135. Boutillier AL, Monnier D, Lorang D, Lundblad JR, Roberts JL, Loeffler JP. Corticotropin-releasing hormone stimulates proopiomelanocortin transcription by cFosdependent and -independent pathways, characterization of an AP1 site in exon 1. *Mol Endocrinol* 9,745-755 (1995)
- 136. Luo L-G, Jackson IMD. Glucocorticoids stimulate TRH and cfos/cjun gene coexpression in cultured hypothalamic neurons. *Brain Res* 791, 56-62 (1998)
- 137. Luo L-G, Wang S, Su E, Jackson IMD. Evidence from studies with N-ethyl-maleimide and 12-O-tetradecanoylphorbol-13-acetate that AP-1 and CREB are involved in the glucocorticoid activation of TRH gene expression in hypothalamic cultures. *Brain Res* 841, 189-192 (1999)
- 138. Barnea A, Roberts J, Keller P, Ann Word R. Interleukin- 1β induces expression of neuropeptide Y in primary astrocyte cultures in a cytokine-specific manner, induction in human but not rat astrocytes. *Brain Res* 896, 137-145 (2001)
- 139. Jalava A, Mai S. Fos and Jun form cell specific protein complexes at the neuropeptide tyrosine promoter. *Oncogene* 9, 2369-2375 (1994)
- 140. Wernersson J, Johansson I, Larsson U, Minth-Worby C, Pahlman S, Andersson G. Activated transcription of the human neuropeptide Y gene in differentiating SH-SY5Y neuroblastoma cells is dependent on transcription factors AP-1, AP-2alpha, and NGFI. *J Neurochem* 70, 1887-1897 (1998)
- 141. Zhang J, Zhang D, McQuade JS, Behbehani M, Tsien JZ, Xu M. c-fos regulates neuronal excitability and survival. *Nature Genet* 30, 416-420 (2002)
- 142. Anouar Y, MacArthur L, Cohen J, Iacangelo AL, Eiden LE. Identification of a TPA-responsive element mediating preferential transactivation of the galanin gene promoter in chromaffin cell. *J Biol Chem* 269, 6823-6831 (1994)
- 143. Brecht S, Buschmann T, Grimm S, Zimmermann M, Herdegen T. Persisting expression of galanin in axotomized mamillary and septal neurons of adult rats labeled for c-Jun and NADPH-diaphorase. *Mol Brain Res* 48, 7-16 (1997)
- 144. Rokaeus A, Jiang K, Spyrou G, Waschek JA. Transcriptional control of the galanin gene. Tissue-specific expression and induction by NGF, protein kinase C, and estrogen. *Ann NY Acad Sci* 863,1-13 (1998)

- 145. Eberhardt W, Kunj D, Hummel R, Pfeilschifter J. Molecular cloning of the rat inducible nitric oxide synthase gene promoter. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 223, 752-756 (1996)
- 146. Marka-Koncjalik J, Chu CS, Moss J. Cytokine-mediated transcriptional induction of the human inducible nitric oxide synthase gene requires both activator protein 1 and nuclear factor kB-binding sites. *J Biol Chem* 273, 22201-22208 (1998)
- 147. Giri S, Jatana M, Rattan R, Won JS, Singh I, Singh AK. Galactosylsphingosine (psychosine)-induced expression of cytokine-mediated inducible nitric oxide synthases via AP-1 and C/EBP, implications for Krabbe disease. *FASEB J* 16, 661-672 (2002)
- 148. Abounader R, Ranganathan S, Kim BYS, Nichols C, Laterra J. Signaling pathways in the induction of c-met receptor expression by its ligand scatter factor/hepatocyte growth factor in human glioblastoma. *J Neurochem* 76, 1497-1508 (2001)
- 149. Mori K, Tani M, Kamata K, Kawamura H, Urata Y, Goto S, Kuwano M, Shibata S, Kondo T. Mitogenactivated protein kinase, ERK1/2, is essential for the induction of vascular endothelial growth factor by ionizing radiation mediated by activator protein-1 in human gliobastoma cells. *Free Radic Res* 33, 157-166 (2000)
- 150. Merchant KM, Miller MA. Coexpression of neurotensin and c-fos mRNAs in rat neostriatal neurons following acute haloperidol. *Mol Brain Res* 23, 271-277 (1994)
- 151. Yin KJ, Lee J-M, Chen SD, Xu J, Hsu Y. Amyloidbeta induces Smac release via AP-1/Bim activation in cerebral endothelial cells. *J Neurosci* 22, 9764-9770 (2002)
- 152. Ang E, Chen J, Zagouras P, Magna H, Holland J, Schaeffer E, Nestler EJ. Induction of nuclear factor-kappaB in nucleus accumbens by chronic cocaine administration. *J Neurochem* 79, 221-224 (2001)
- **Key Words:** Gene Regulation, Gene expression, TRE, Jun, Fos, Transcription, EMSA, Review
- **Send correspondence to:** Dr. Marcin Rylski, Laboratory of Molecular Neurobiology, The Nencki Institute, 02-093 Warsaw, Pasteura 3, Poland, Tel: 4822-6593001, Fax: 4822-8225342, E-mail: mrylski@hotmail.com